FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/4/2024
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
1/3/2024 4:29 PM

102701-0

No. 84864-0-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Courtney Perez,

Appellant,

v.

Department of Labor & Industries and Digital Control, Inc.,

Respondents,

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Brian M. Wright, WSBA # 45240
Brian@causeywright.com
Causey Wright, P.S.
Attorney for Appellant
P.O. Box 34538
Seattle, WA 98124
(206) 292-8627

I. INTRODUCTION

This case presents a case of first impression regarding the application of the extraterritoriality provisions of the Industrial Insurance Act, Title 51 RCW. The specific statute, RCW 51.12.120, provides for coverage under Washington law to workers injured or killed outside the state in four enumerated circumstances; the provision applicable in this case states that a Washington claim will be allowed where a worker was "working under a contract of hire made in this state for employment not principally localized in any state." RCW 51.12.120(1)(b). No appellate decision, published or otherwise, has ever addressed the application of this statute in the 52 years since it was enacted. LAWS of 1971, ex.s. ch. 289 § 82.

Courtney Perez filed a claim under the IIA on account of her husband Julian Perez Ortega's fatal on-the-job injury. The Perez family lived in Indiana, but Mr. Perez was employed by Digital Control, Inc., a Washington State-based employer, and his employment contract was made in Washington. In the

Summer of 2018, while working in the field for DCI in Michigan, Mr. Perez was struck by a driver and killed. Ms. Perez contends that Mr. Perez's employment for DCI was not principally localized in any state, thus making coverage under Washington law proper.

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner is Courtney Perez, the surviving spouse of Julian Perez Ortega. Ms. Perez seeks review of the unpublished¹ decision of the Court of Appeals, Division I, in *Perez v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, No. 84866-0-I (attached as Appendix). No motion for reconsideration was filed.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether the term "working time" as used in RCW
 51.12.150(5)(a)(ii) encompasses only time spent actually working, or whether it also includes, as the Court of

2

¹ Respondent Department of Labor & Industries filed a motion to publish on December 15, 2023.

- Appeals concluded, "on call" time in which the employee might be expected to work?
- 2. Whether conclusory use of statutory terms of art in a finding of fact morph such a finding into a conclusion of law such that *de novo* review is appropriate?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Julian Perez Ortega began working for Digital Control,
Inc., ("DCI") in 1998 as a production assembler. CP 1456. As a
condition of his employment, DCI required Mr. Perez to sign an
"Employee Agreement." Id. That Employee Agreement was
executed on February 13, 1998, and provides in relevant part
that it "shall be governed by the laws of the State of
Washington regardless of the residency of any party to this
Agreement." CP 999-1000. When he began working for DCI,
Mr. Perez was already in a relationship with Courtney Perez
(née McPhillips). Mr. Perez's career with DCI soon took off,
and he and Ms. Perez relocated several times in furtherance of
his employment with DCI, along the way getting married and

raising three children. <u>CP 715-18</u>. Eventually the Perezes settled in Indianapolis, Indiana, in 2007 when Mr. Perez received a promotion to become DCI's Midwest Territory Manager, with additional responsibilities in South America due to his Spanish language skills and "his expertise with DCI's equipment and customers." <u>CP 718, 1458</u>. Mr. Perez received a final promotion to become DCI's North American Field manager in April of 2018, just a few months before his death. CP at 1459.

Although DCI did not require Mr. Perez to live in Indiana, the company did suggest that he live somewhere within its Midwest territory. CP at 720, 797. This is because Mr. Perez's job required *extensive* travel in support of DCI's equipment and customers.² As Ms. Perez observed in her testimony, when Mr. Perez held these positions there "was kind of a running joke in the friends group . . . 'Where is Julian?'

² DCI manufactures and supports guidance systems for drilling equipment.

[a]nd I would say 'I don't know." <u>CP 727.</u> DCI's Chief of Staff Matt Mercer stated that the territory managers "are required to travel up to 75 percent of the time." <u>CP 786.</u> Ms. Perez estimated that, from 2007 to 2018, Mr. Perez was away from home on work trips "at least 50 percent" of the time. <u>Id.</u> Evidence was also introduced below detailing Mr. Perez's various work trips and general comings-and-goings. <u>CP at 996-1600</u>.

While there was no dispute in this case that Mr. Perez's job required a lot of travel, there was a dispute regarding what he did while at home in Indiana between business trips. DCI's job description for the Midwest Territory Manager (generated in response to litigation) states that the territory managers are "home office based," but DCI Chief of Staff Matt Mercer emphasized in his testimony that the territory manager's duties are primarily in the field. Mr. Mercer explained that territory managers were primarily responsible for helping DCI's customers on the use of DCI's products. CP 785. Mr. Mercer

also testified that DCI's expectation was that, on non-travel days, Mr. Perez "should be working from home supporting customers at any time with troubleshooting issues, absorbing product content, working on presentations, test reports, field testing, bench testing and trip reports." CP 786. Ms. Perez testified that Mr. Perez would answer occasional work-related calls and emails while at home, but he did not maintain a separate home office and Ms. Perez could not recall him ever working a full day at home. CP at 722-23, 725. In fact, while Mr. Perez was certainly perennially "on call," "there was also really no, like, sitting down in an office [at home] doing work." Id. at 725. Mr. Perez did also occasionally work with DCI customers within Indiana.

While working in the field for DCI in Michigan on July 31, 2018, Mr. Perez was struck by a driver in a construction zone and died a few days later. CP 86-87, 998. Ms. Perez filed a timely claim for benefits in Washington State on June 26, 2019. CP 639. The Department of Labor & Industries rejected her

claim, and on October 29, 2021—after unnecessarily contentious and protracted litigation—the Board issued a final order affirming the rejection of Ms. Perez's claim. <u>CP 21.</u> The Board's decision adopted a "finding of fact" that Mr. Perez's "employment was principally localized in Indiana." <u>CP 130.</u>

Ms. Perez then appealed to King County Superior Court. After granting partial summary judgment to Ms. Perez concluding that Mr. Perez was working under a Washington contract of hire, the superior court entered judgment on December 19, 2022, otherwise affirming the Board. CP at 1835-38. The superior court also issued "findings" that Mr. Perez "spent a substantial part of his working time in the service of DCI in the State of Indiana" and that his "work with DCI was principally localized" in Indiana. CP at 1837.

Ms. Perez then appealed to the Court of Appeals,
Division One. Ms. Perez argued that both the Board and the
superior court failed to issue proper findings of fact and that
quantification of "working time" was critical to the analysis

under RCW 51.12.120. Moreover, she argued that "working time" only encompassed time actually spent working—not merely "on call." The Court of Appeals rejected these arguments in its December 4, 2023 opinion affirming the superior court.

V. ARGUMENT—REVIEW IS APPROPRIATE UNDER RAP 13.4(b)(4)

Review should be granted because this case "involves an issue of substantial public interest." RAP 13.4(b)(4). There is little guidance regarding the meaning of "substantial public interest" under RAP 13.4. However, this Court has provided direction in the context of exercising discretion to decide an appeal where the issue in the case has become moot. There the Court has created a three (occasionally four) part test to determine if the question on appeal "is of continuing and substantial public interest." *Randy Reynolds & Assocs. v. Harmon*, 193 Wn. 2d 143, 152, 437 P.3d 677 (2019).

To determine whether a case presents an issue of continuing and substantial public interest, we

consider a nonexclusive list of criteria: (1) the public or private nature of the question presented, (2) the desirability of an authoritative determination for the future guidance of public officers, and (3) the likelihood of future recurrence of the question.

Id. (internal quotations and brackets omitted).³ Generally speaking, "[m]atters of statutory interpretation tend to be more public, more likely to arise again, and helpful to public officials." *Id.* at 153.

The first factor is met in this case because the question presented is public in nature. This case concerns interpretation of a statute applicable to any worker who falls within the jurisdiction of Washington State's Industrial Insurance Act ("IIA"). The IIA is a remedial statute which covers *all* "employments which are within the legislative jurisdiction of the state." RCW 51.12.010. Our Act is what is referred to as a

³ Occasionally a fourth factor is referenced which allows the court to "consider the level of adversity between the parties and the quality of the advocacy of the issues." *Harmon*, 193 Wn. 2d. at 152-53. There is no adversity between the parties, and Ms. Perez will let the Court judge the quality of advocacy to the extent that the Court considers it relevant.

"mandatory" coverage act, meaning that all "workers" (defined broadly⁴) are covered unless expressly excluded from the provisions of Title 51. *See, e.g., Jepson v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 89 Wn. 2d 394, 398-99, 573 P.2d 10 (1977). This is true even where the employer fails to cover the worker under Washington law. *See Id.* at 399. Moreover, workers are covered irrespective of the labels used to describe them—be it "independent contractor" or some other term used to obfuscate a traditional employer-employee relationship—and the IIA creates a presumption in favor of coverage. *See Dep't of Labor & Indus. v. Lyons Enters., Inc.*, 185 Wn. 2d 721, 733-39, 374 P.3d 1097 (2016).

The IIA covers millions of Washingtonians and (as this case illustrates) even many individuals outside the borders of Washington State. In 2022, there were an estimated 3,428,560 workers employed by nearly 200,000 employers covered under

⁴ See RCW 51.08.180.

10

the IIA.⁵ While statistics do not disclose how many of these workers work and/or reside out-of-state, as discussed below the IIA explicitly covers some of these workers. The first prong of the "substantial public interest" test is satisfied here because this case concerns a quintessentially public issue—a statute applicable to any of the millions of covered workers in this state (and beyond).

The second factor of the "significant public interest" test—the desirability of an authoritative determination for the future guidance of public officers—is also met in this case, and probably weighs most heavily in favor of granting review.

There is no guidance from this Court on the meaning of the various terms and phrases used in the IIA's extraterritoriality statute, RCW 51.12.120. In fact, there is no guidance from any

⁵ See Washington State Department of Labor & Industries, Annual Comprehensive Financial Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022, at 126 Sch. 4 (available at https://lni.wa.gov/insurance/_docs/2022ACFR.pdf) (last accessed Dec. 26, 2023). This data includes both state fundinsured and self-insured employers.

Washington appellate court—published or unpublished—on the application of RCW 51.12.120. And while the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals has issued two "significant decisions" concerning the extraterritoriality statute, neither involved the provisions at issue in this case. A pronouncement from this Court would be beneficial because it would provide guidance to lower courts and administrative officials applying the extraterritoriality provisions of the IIA. This is all the more necessary in light of the post-COVID-19 transition of a significant percentage of workers to permanent work from

⁶ Under RCW 51.52.160 the Board is required to "publish and index its significant decisions and make them available to the public." The Board has done so, and they are available at http://biia.wa.gov/SDSubjectIndex.html. The Board has designated two decisions concerning RCW 51.12.120 as significant—*In re Irene Uzzell*, BIIA Dec., 09 18171 (2010), and *In re Kenneth Hermanson*, *dec'd*, BIIA Dec., 42,395 (1975). Neither case addressed whether employment was not principally localized in any state.

home arrangements, many of whom are moving out of state for a variety of reasons.⁷

Under RCW 51.12.120, the extraterritoriality statute, a worker "working outside the territorial limits of this state . . . shall be entitled to compensation under [the IIA] if at the time of the injury" he or she meets one of the four tests for extraterritorial coverage enumerated in the statute. *See* RCW 51.12.120(1)(a)-(d). Under RCW 51.12.120(1)(b), the provision applicable to this case, a worker injured *and* living outside of Washington State is covered if "[h]e or she [was] working under a contract of hire made in this state for employment not principally localized in any state."

⁷ As the Washington State Office of Financial Management stated in public guidance, the "previously rare" concept of remote work has become more common, and "agencies are getting more employee requests for out-of-state remote work for many different reasons." *See* Office of Financial Management, Out-of-state remote work guidance and resources, *available at* https://ofm.wa.gov/state-human-resources/statewide-telework-and-hybrid-work-resources/out-state-remote-work-guidance-and-resources (last accessed Jan. 2, 2024).

The IIA provides some guidance to determine where a worker's employment is principally localized. Under RCW 51.12.120(5)(a), the worker's employment "is principally localized in this or another state" if one of two tests is met. First, if the worker's employer "has a place of business in this or the other state" and the worker "regularly works at or from the place of business," the worker's employment is principally localized in that state. Second, and only if the first test is not dispositive, the worker's employment may be principally localized in the state in which the worker lives if "he or she spends a substantial part of his or her working time in the service of his or her employer" in that state. It follows that if neither of these two definitional tests are met, the worker's employment is not principally localized in any state.

The Court of Appeals analyzed the language of RCW 51.12.120 in a manner inconsistent with the principles governing provisions of the IIA, in particular the construction of ambiguous terminology. This Court should take the

opportunity to reaffirm those principles and provide guidance to lower courts and to the Department of Labor & Industries, which is entrusted to apply the terms of RCW 51.12.120 to all workers covered by Washington law. This guidance is necessary because the Court of Appeals neglected to apply one of the most fundamental principles of construction of the IIA—liberal construction of ambiguous terms.

As the Legislature has commanded, and as this Court has repeatedly affirmed, the IIA is "remedial in nature and is to be liberally construed in order to achieve its purpose of providing compensation to all covered employees injured in their employment, with doubts resolved in favor of the worker."

**Dennis v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 109 Wn. 2d 467, 470, 745

P.2d 1245 (1987) **see also RCW 51.12.010. The thrust of the IIA's liberal construction mandate is that "where reasonable minds can differ over what Title 51 RCW provisions mean, in keeping with the legislation's fundamental purpose, the benefit of the doubt belongs to the injured worker." **Cockle v. Dep't of**

Labor & Indus., 142 Wn. 2d 801, 811, 16 P.3d 583 (2001). To the extent there is any ambiguity or uncertainty in the language of the IIA, it must be interpreted in a manner most favorable to the injured worker: "The liberal construction of the IIA necessitates that all doubts be resolved in favor of coverage."

Lyons Enters., Inc., 185 Wn. 2d at 734.

While the Court of Appeals proclaimed that the plain language of RCW 51.12.120 was dispositive in this case, it also acknowledged that the parties "differ[ed] . . . on the definition of working time" as used in that statute. Slip Op. at 7. Ms.

Perez contended that "working time" meant time actually spent working, while the Department argued—and the Court of Appeals held—that "working time" includes potential working time in the case of a salaried worker. This distinction matters because Mr. Perez was expected to travel for his work "up to 75% of the time" (including many weekends), and he had thus

16

⁸ See CP at 766.

very little time at home with his family as a worker with a more "normal" schedule would have. Although Mr. Perez's precious little down-time often fell during "business hours" on weekdays, the Court of Appeals found that this down-time was technically "working time" because it was time for which Mr. Perez was ostensibly paid salary. *See* Slip Op. at 9-10.9

Thus, in spite of Ms. Perez's reasonable interpretation of the term "working time," the Court of Appeals failed to address whether the parties' differing definitions were reasonable, and failed to even mention—let alone apply—the principle of liberal construction. Without guidance from this Court, future appellate and trial courts, the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals, and the Department of Labor & Industries will be left with guidance to the interpretation of RCW 51.12.120 bereft of

⁹ Mr. Perez was "expected to work Monday through Friday or take leave," and "as a salaried employee, being 'on call' meant he was working."

any analysis of the fundamental precepts of construction of the IIA.

Importantly, even under a *plain language* analysis without resort to liberal construction—Ms. Perez's interpretation of "working time" is the correct one. The Court of Appeals decided that Mr. Perez's "on call" time was "working time" in part based on his status as a salaried worker. Essentially, because Mr. Perez was a salaried worker, his employer reasonably expected him to work regular daytime hours Monday through Friday, and thus "being 'on call' meant he was working." Slip Op. at 10. The Court's analysis is incorrect; RCW 51.12.120 uses "working time" as the relevant metric, and the plain meaning of "working time" under RCW 51.12.120 requires *quantification* of the amount of time that the worker spent in different locations in order to determine whether their employment was "principally localized" in any state.

Yet even if the Department's proposed definition of working time as encompassing "on call" time is credited, at best the Department merely offered a competing reasonable interpretation.¹⁰ The Court of Appeals improperly failed to consider Ms. Perez's competing definition or acknowledge any ambiguity within RCW 51.12.120, and consequently failed to engage in the proper statutory construction analysis. This analysis would require the Court to, first and foremost, liberally construe "working time" in a manner most favorable to the Ms. Perez. But the Court of Appeals did not do that—no reference to either liberal construction or ambiguity is found anywhere in the court's opinion. Liberal construction would not include "on call" time because that is not time spent actually working.

The Court of Appeals' treatment of Mr. Perez's "on call" time as "working time" because he was a salaried worker is also

19

¹⁰ While Ms. Perez does not believe the Department's definition is *reasonable*, for purposes of argument here she presumes it is.

inconsistent with Mr. Perez's actual work pattern. Respectfully, the Court of Appeals' analysis is incorrect, and it places unfair and unreasonable expectations on Mr. Perez and other salaried workers. Though the Court of Appeals observed that Mr. Perez "was paid for every work day that he was outside of Indiana and for every work day that he was in Indiana, no matter how many hours he worked," that observation is incorrect. Slip Op. at 10.

While the Court of Appeals did not elaborate on what it considered to be a "work day," Ms. Perez assumes this means Monday through Friday based on the Court's focus on the "expectation" that Mr. Perez would "work Monday through Friday or take leave." Slip Op. at 9. The Court of Appeals' analysis does not take into consideration the numerous weekend days Mr. Perez spent on the road in the course of his employment, and it similarly does not account for the fact that, while on the road, Mr. Perez's entire 24 hour day was dictated by his employment. While an "ordinary" salaried worker might

reasonably be expected to work regular eight hour days

Monday through Friday, according to the Court's analysis Mr.

Perez would *also* be saddled with the obligation to be

effectively on the job 24 hours per day many weekdays and

weekends alike. That travel was a requirement in which Mr.

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