I. INTRODUCTION 

This case involves the application of ordinary statutory 

construction principles to a plainly-worded workers' 

compensation statute that does not warrant this Court's review. 

Courtney Perez seeks Washington workers' compensation 

benefits after her spouse, Julian Perez Ortega, died while 

working and living in another state. Perez is entitled to 

extraterritorial survivor benefits under Washington law only if 

Perez Ortega did not spend a "substantial part" of his "working 

time in the [employer's] service" in another state. The trial 

court found that Perez Ortega spent a substantial part of his 

working time in the employer's service in Indiana, where Perez 

Ortega had lived and worked since 2007. 

The undisputed testimony and documentary evidence­

including expense reports, mileage logs, contract, and payroll 

information-show that, in 201 7 and 2018, Perez Ortega 

worked 247 and 146 days for DCI respectively, not including 

holidays and paid time off Of those days, Perez Ortega worked 
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from home in Indiana 128 days (52 percent of the time) in 

2017, and 56 days (38 percent of the time) in 2018. Compared 

to his time spent working in other states (between one percent 

to eight percent), the Court of Appeals appropriately 

determined that Perez Ortega spent a substantial part of his 

working time in Indiana, precluding benefits under the 

extraterritoriality statute. 

Perez challenges the Court of Appeals' inclusion of time 

Perez Ortega allegedly spent "on-call" in Indiana during a 

standard Monday-Friday workweek as part of his "working 

time." But Perez cannot deny that he was salaried and that 

salaried workers are paid the same salary regardless of the 

numbers of hours actually worked. Nor can she deny that his 

work contract required him to work Monday through Friday 

each week, or otherwise take leave for time he was not 

working. 
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The Court of Appeals' determination that the statutory 

definition of "working time" encompasses a salaried 

employee's expected workweek applies the plain language of 

RCW 51.12.120. This determination does not require this 

Court's review. The Department of Labor and Industries asks 

this Court to deny review. 

II. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE 

Does substantial evidence support finding that Perez 

Ortega spent a substantial part of his working time in Indiana 

when the evidence shows that he spent nearly half of his work 

time "home office based" in Indiana where he was paid a salary 

to work Monday through Friday and other hours as needed? 

Ill STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Perez Seeks Extraterritorial Workers' Compensation 

Coverage 

Julian Perez Ortega worked for Digital Control, Inc. 

(DCI) from 1998 until his death in August 2018. CP 1008 (Ex 

4). DCI manufactures horizontal directional drilling guidance 

equipment. CP 1017 (Ex 4). It sells its products through 
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independent resellers, and it has territory managers to support 

the DCI resellers and customers in its regions. CP 1003 (Ex 4). 

Perez Ortega initially contracted with DCI to work in 

Washington State, and then moved to work, first in Florida and 

then in California. CP 1008, 1013 (Ex 4 ). In 2007, Perez Ortega 

relocated to Indiana. CP 718. From 2007 to August 2018, Perez 

Ortega worked as DCI's Midwest Territory Manager, and in 

April 2018, became DCI's North American Field Manager. CP 

1008 (Ex 4). 

In his role as territory manager, his primary territory was 

the Midwest (Illinois, Indiana, Iowa, Kansas, Michigan, 

Missouri, Ohio, and Wisconsin), and he also covered South 

America. CP 719, 787, 798. As field manager, he supervised 

other territory managers in North America and continued to 

serve as Midwest territory manager. CP 789, 1008 (Ex 4). 

While working in Michigan, he was in an accident in the 

end of July 2018 that led to his death on August 2, 2018. CP 

547, 998. His spouse Courtney Perez filed for extraterritorial 
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industrial insurance survivor benefits in Washington, which 

L&I denied. CP 648. She appealed to the Board of Industrial 

Insurance Appeals. CP 643-45. 

That Perez Ortega neither worked ( other than a fraction 

of time) nor lived in Washington after his initial hire is not 

dispositive. Instead, a worker injured outside Washington may 

receive Washington workers' compensation benefits if they 

were under an employment contract made in Washington and 

working in employment "not principally localized in any state." 

RCW 51.12.120(1 )(b ). 1 "Principally localized" means where a 

worker is "domiciled in and spends a substantial part" of their 

"working time in the [employer's service] in this or the other 

state." RCW 51.12.120(5)(a)(ii). 

Here, it is undisputed that Perez Ortega originally entered 

into his employment contract with DCI in Washington and was 

domiciled in Indiana. CP 731, 1710, 1718, 1734, 1758. So the 

1 RCW 51.12.120 was amended in 2023. Laws of 2023, 
ch. 88, § 11. The changes are not material to this case. 
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relevant inquiry for the courts below was how much time Perez 

Ortega spent working in Indiana in the service of DCI. 

B. Perez Ortega Worked from Home in Indiana When 

He Wasn't Traveling Out of State 

Perez Ortega's primary roles were to support the DCI 

resellers within his territory and to support and train customers 

in how to use DCI's drilling equipment. CP 785, 1017 (Ex 4). 

Ultimately, his job was to develop and execute marketing 

strategies to grow DCI's business. CP 785, 1017 (Ex 4). 

When Perez Ortega became DCI's Midwest Territory 

Manager, he had to move to the Midwest to take the promotion, 

and chose to live in Indiana. CP 733. DCI required its managers 

to live inside their service territory to more easily reach their 

customers. See CP 786. Face-to-face interactions with 

customers helped accomplish the job. CP 785. 

Perez Ortega often travelled for work outside of Indiana. 

Territory managers are required to travel throughout their 

territories up to 50 percent of their time. CP 1004-5 (Ex 4). 

Perez estimated that Perez Ortega spent about 50 percent of his 
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time outside of Indiana, with the inference that 50 percent of his 

non-travel time was spent in Indiana. See CP 722. 

When territory managers are not traveling, DCI expects 

them to work from home or to take leave for any time that they 

are not working. CP 796, 836, 845. DCI paid Perez Ortega a 

salary for all his time, whether he was traveling or not. See CP 

84 7. DCI expected him to work Monday through Friday, and 

beyond. CP 805, 845. He was on-call 24 hours a day. CP 805. 

Perez Ortega's job description says that the territory 

managers are "home office based." CP 1004 (Ex 4). DCI's chief 

of staff, Matt Mercer, explained that, when the territory 

managers were not traveling, they would work from their home 

offices in several ways: supporting customers at any time with 

troubleshooting issues; absorbing product content; and working 

on presentations, test reports, field testing, bench testing, and 

trip reports. CP 786. They were also responsible for competitive 

analysis, quarterly reports, and goal setting for the team 

members. CP 796-97. 
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DCI reported that "[ o ]n non-travel days, [Perez Ortega] 

typically worked out of his home, communicating with resellers 

and customers." CP 1010 (Ex 4). In his role as North American 

Field Manager, he would communicate with territory managers, 

including "checking in with each of them, helping them work 

through issues, creating reports for the team, [ and] following up 

on broader communications with headquarters-based DCI 

employees." CP 1010 (Ex 4). 

Perez Ortega also set up his home to work in Indiana. He 

had a company laptop and a home office. CP 722-23, 749, 

1011. DCI reimbursed him for 80 percent of the cost of his 

home internet because his work required him to work from 

home. CP 742, 826-27. DCI also paid for a storage unit in 

Indianapolis for Perez Ortega's work equipment. CP 723, 742. 

DCI paid payroll and unemployment taxes in Indiana because 

Indiana was his primary location where much of his work was 

performed. CP 828-30. 
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Perez Ortega also had significant work responsibilities in 

Indiana. He worked with DCI's biggest customer, Vermeer, 

which represents 80 percent of DCI's business and had a branch 

in Indiana. CP 732, 788, 806. Perez Ortega was responsible for 

the Vermeer Midwest group-the largest group at Vermeer. CP 

788. DCI promoted him because of his success with Vermeer. 

CP 790-91. 

Perez noted that, when Perez Ortega was at home, he 

would be a "little bit more hands on" in terms of participating 

in family activities in ways he couldn't when traveling. CP 724. 

But even so, he always responded to calls, texts, and emails: 

[H]e always had his phone on him. So even if he 
was out in the yard mowing and his phone rang, he 

would take the call. If someone would e-mail or 

text, he would respond to it. So regardless of if he 
was at a baseball game or whatever we were doing, 

even on vacations, he would take the call. 

CP 724-25. He would receive calls in evening hours. CP 735. 

He would also work weekends in Indiana. CP 738. 
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Perez claimed that Perez Ortega did not work full eight­

hour days when he was working at home. CP 725, 761. But she 

conceded that she was unaware of how much time he spent 

working because she had her own responsibilities. CP 736, 739. 

Perez admitted that given the 24-hours-a-day nature of his job, 

she could not specify the amount of time he worked each day in 

Indiana. CP 739. And she conceded that he would immediately 

respond to texts, calls, or emails. CP 734. 

At the hearing, Perez raised a theory that Perez Ortega 

was not working when in Indiana, but was instead ostensibly 

"on call," and that the time in Indiana (when he wasn't in the 

field) was mostly not working. CP 53, 72-77. But DCI's chief 

of staff affirmed that Perez Ortega worked at home when he 

was not traveling-it was a "requirement" that he either work 

or take paid time off. CP 796, 836, 845. The chief of staff 

stressed that Perez Ortega supported resellers "from home over 

the phone." CP 814-15. 
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DCI' s supervisors alternatively characterized Perez 

Ortega's activities as being "on call" when at home or "working 

when he was at home." Compare CP 836 ("[I]f he was on call 

at home, he would technically still be working.") with CP 796 

("Part of his job would be working when he was not 

traveling."). The chief of staff emphasized that the territory 

managers were required to always be available to customers: 

"You're on call 24/7." CP 805. 

DCI accounting manager, Emily Williams, emphasized 

that, if Perez Ortega was "on call" at home, he would still be 

working. CP 836. And DCI considers time spent Monday 

through Friday at home to be workdays in Indiana unless leave 

is submitted. CP 845. 

Perez testified that Perez Ortega worked around the 

house when he was in town. CP 724. But DCI's accounting 

manager testified that, if Perez Ortega wanted to fix things 

around the house during an ordinary workday, he would be 

required to submit time off from work. CP 836. 
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C. Perez Ortega Spent Nearly Half of His Working Time 

in Indiana 

Both DCI' s chief of staff Mercer and accounting 

manager testified that a substantial part of Perez Ortega's time 

was working for DCI in Indiana. CP 807, 830. Mercer cited 

information from customers and from Perez Ortega's travel 

expenses. CP 813, 1036-1122 (Ex 6), 1123-1451 (Ex 7), 1463-

1502 (Ex 13 ). Accounting manager Williams calculated the 

time Perez Ortega worked in Indiana versus other locations 

based on Perez Ortega's expense reports, activity reports 

submitted with the expense reports, receipts, mileage logs, and 

the company payroll database. CP 821-22. Williams compiled 

her calculations in a document admitted as Exhibit 5: 
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2017 Locations Worked 

Location Days in Location 

Colombia 12 

Holiday No Work 10 

Illinois 22 

Indiana 128 

Iowa 7 

Kansas 8 

Kentucky 5 

Mexico 4 

Michigan 14 

Missouri 25 

Ohio 2 

PTO No.Work 10 

Texas 8 

Washington 5 

Wisconsin 7 

Grand Total 267 

2018 Locations Worked 

Location Days in location 

Alabama 1 

Brazil 6 

Hawaii 8 

Holiday No Work 6 

Illinois 12 

Indiana 56 

Iowa 7 

Kansas 6 

Louisiana 4 

Michigan 6 

Missouri 5 

Missouri/Illinois 3 

Ohio 1 

Oklahoma/Kansas 4 

PTO No Work 9 

Tennessee 2 

Unknown 12 

Washington 13 

Grand Total 161 

CP 1035 (Ex 5). 

Williams determined that, in 2017, Perez Ortega worked 

128 out of 267 possible workdays in Indiana. CP 836. And for 

2018, Perez Ortega worked 56 days in Indiana out of 161 
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possible work dates. CP 835. According to Williams' 

calculations, Perez Ortega worked 43 percent of these working 

days in Indiana over the two years. 

Another exhibit using information from Perez quantified 

that Perez Ortega spent 50 percent of non-travel working time 

in Indiana. CP 1625 (Ex 18); RP 31, 40. 

PEREZ TRAVEL JAN-JUN 2018 

IIIAL l!IH il i!HS l!ILA aMi ■MO 1110H l!IOK lfTN DWA \IIWl IOBAAZiL !tiNON7RAVELWORKDI\YS 
0 

0 

NON 7RftVEL 'NORK DAYS 

SC% 

Board of 
Industrial Insurance Appeals 

In re: JULIAN PEREZ ORTEGA DEC'D 

Docket No. 19 18743 & 1918744 

Exhibit No. 18 

[LI '""" □ 
ADM Date REJ 

Thus, the percentage of time he worked in Indiana in 

2017 and 2018 was between 43 to 50 percent. CP 722; CP 1035 

(Ex 5); CP 1635 (Ex 18). In 2018, beyond the time he spent 
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working in Indiana, he spent eight percent of his working days 

in Missouri, seven percent in Washington, six percent in 

Hawaii, five percent in Iowa, four percent in Louisiana, four 

percent in Michigan, three percent in Illinois, two percent in 

Kansas, two percent in Oklahoma, two percent in Wisconsin, 

one percent in Ohio, one percent in Tennessee and one percent 

in Alabama. CP 1625 (Ex 18). He also worked for short periods 

in Brazil and Colombia. CP 1035 (Ex 5). 

D. The Board and Trial Court Affirmed That Perez 
Ortega Was Principally Localized in Indiana 

L&I issued an order finding that Perez Ortega was not 

covered under Washington workers' compensation law because 

he was principally localized in Indiana. See CP 649. On appeal, 

at the Board, the Board denied the parties' cross-motions for 

summary judgment. CP 119. Based on the testimony, the Board 

affirmed L&I. CP 21, 130. And the trial court later affirmed the 

Board, finding that Perez Ortega "spent a substantial part of his 

time working in the service of DCI in the State of Indiana." CP 

1837 (FF 1.12). In support of this finding, the trial court noted 
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that Perez Ortega resided in Indiana, was " a salaried worker 

that was required to be available 24 hours per day," and that "he 

worked from home in the State of Indiana, he worked with 

customers in the field in the State of Indiana, [and] he traveled 

in and around the State of Indiana for work related travel." CP 

1837 (FF 1.12). The trial court also noted that Perez Ortega 

maintained and rented a storage unit for work equipment in the 

State of Indiana. CP 1837 (FF 1.12). 

The trial court determined that Perez Ortega spent 50 

percent of his time in Indiana-"that 50 percent mathematical 

computation." RP 86. The trial court defined "substantial" for 

purposes of applying the extraterritoriality statute as 

"considerable in quantity" and "of considerable importance." 

RP 86. The trial court ruled "there is no way that I can conclude 

based on this record that Mr. Perez's involvement in the state of 

Indiana was anything other than considerable in quantity, ample 

or of considerable importance." RP 87. The trial court 

concluded that, because Perez Ortega's work with DCI was 
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principally localized in Indiana, he was ineligible for 

Washington benefits. CP 1837. 

Perez appealed and the Court of Appeals affirmed. It held 

that "working time" included time spent on salary, thus 

supporting the determination that Perez Ortega spent the 

substantial part of his working time in Indiana. Perez v. Dep 't 

of Lab. & Indus. , No. 84864-0, slip op. at 9-10 (Wash. App. Ct. 

Dec. 4, 2023). 

IV. ARGUMENT 

This Court should deny review of the fact-bound 

application of RCW 51.12.120 to Perez Ortega's employment 

circumstances. Perez's generic argument that the Industrial 

Insurance Act is a remedial statute does not warrant review 

here. And her argument that this issue is likely to recur in the 

future, despite never having been addressed before, rests on 

pure speculation. Pet. 12, 28. Contrary to Perez's arguments, 

out-of-state work-from-home arrangements will almost 

invariably require spending substantial working time in another 
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state. And, in the unlikely situation this issue ever recurs again 

the future, applying the extraterritorial statute requires a routine 

application of plainly-worded statutory language to the facts of 

each case. This case does not meet the criteria for this Court's 

review. 

A. The Court of Appeals Correctly Concluded That 

Working Time Under RCW 51.12.120 Includes 

Salaried Time 

The key question is this case is straightforward: whether

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